Public Document Pack

Children, Education and
Skills Sub Committee
Thursday, 6 January 2022
To be held on Thursday, 13 January 2022 in 0.02 Chamber - Quadrant, The Silverlink
North, Cobalt Business Park, North Tyneside, NE27 0BY commencing at 6.00 pm (Due
to Covid precautions, members of the public wishing to attend should notify the contact
officer by emailing: democraticsupport@northtyneside.gov.uk)
Agenda
Item
1.

Page

Apologies for absence
To receive apologies for absence from the meeting.

2.

Appointment of substitutes
To be informed of the appointment of any substitute members for
the meeting.

3.

To receive any declarations of interest
You are invited to declare any registerable and/or non-registerable
interests in matters appearing on the agenda, and the nature of that
interest.

You are also requested to complete the Declarations of Interests card
available at the meeting and return it to the Democratic Services Officer
before leaving the meeting.
You are also invited to disclose any dispensation from the requirement
to declare any registerable and/or non-registerable interests that have
been granted to you in respect of any matters appearing on the agenda
4.

Minutes

5 - 10

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 18 November 2021.
5.

Update on Children's Exploitation and Developments in North
Tyneside

11 - 36

Members of the public are entitled to attend this meeting and receive information about it.
North Tyneside Council wants to make it easier for you to get hold of the information you need.
We are able to provide our documents in alternative formats including Braille, audiotape, large
print and alternative languages.

Agenda
Item

Page

To provide an update to the Children, Education and Skills Subcommittee in relation to work undertaken in 2021 around exploitation
including: Missing, Slavery, Exploitation (both criminal and sexual) and
Trafficked (MSET).

6.

Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education (RSE)
and Health Education Policy and online safety

37 - 46

To provide members of the Sub-Committee with an overview of

Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) and
Health Education Policy and online safety

7.

Signs of Safety

47 - 62

To receive an update on Signs of Safety
Circulation overleaf …

Members of the Children, Education and Skills Sub Committee
Councillor Joanne Cassidy
Councillor Chris Johnston
Councillor Pam McIntyre
Councillor Andy Newman
Councillor Erin Parker-Leonard
Councillor Matthew Thirlaway (Chair)
Mr Stephen Fallon
Rev Michael Vine

Councillor Hannah Johnson (Deputy Chair)
Councillor Maureen Madden
Councillor Jim Montague
Councillor Pat Oliver
Councillor Steven Phillips
Councillor Matt Wilson

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee
18 November 2021

Present:

Councillor M Thirlaway (Chair)
Councillor J Cassidy, H Johnson, C Johnston, P McIntyre,
J Montague, P Oliver, S Phillips and M Wilson.
Rev M Vine - Church Representative
Mr S Fallon – Church Representative
Apologies: Councillors M Madden, A Newman and E
Parker-Leonard

CES15/21

Substitute Members

There were no substitute members

CES16/21

Declarations of Interest

Councillor P Oliver declared a personal interest in Item 6 Support for Children with Special
Needs and Disability during the Covid-19 pandemic as a family member has special needs.

CES17/21

Minutes

Resolved that the minutes of the previous meeting held on 9 September 2021 be confirmed
and signed by the Chair.

CES18/21

Overview of the impact of Covid in schools from September 2021

The Committee considered a report on the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on children and
education, including the number of outbreaks from September 2021 and an update on the
vaccination programme in schools.
As highlighted in the recently published report the ‘Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on
health and socio-economic inequalities in North Tyneside’, children and young people had
been disproportionately impacted in terms of missed education and social interaction.
Before the COVID-19 pandemic, there was already a significant gap in educational attainment
between children living in deprived areas and their peers within North Tyneside. Many children
experienced digital exclusion and were unable to access remote learning as families did not

Page 5

Children, Education and Skills Sub-committee

have laptops or internet access. The disruption to school-based learning during the pandemic
is thought to have further widened that gap.
Across the North East, the learning loss for primary school pupils throughout the year was 2.8
months, which increased to 3.3 months for secondary school pupils. Nationally, pupils in
schools with high take up of free school meals experienced the largest learning loss, which
has likely widened the attainment gap.
In reply to a question regarding the learning loss for primary school pupils and secondary
school pupils in North Tyneside it was noted that accurate information on the impact of
Covid-19 on North Tyneside pupils would be obtained in the summer in 2022 when the
Council would have data on the outcomes of national tests and national comparators.
As the Government moved to step 4 of the roadmap in July 2021, a new phase of continued
caution came into operation to manage the risks of COVID-19.
Since the beginning of the new academic year in September 2021 the national and local
priority was to protect time in face-to-face education, minimise disruption and ensure the
response to COVID–19 was proportionate to risk to children and young people. The risk of
severe illness in children and young people was low, however in contrast there were significant
harms associated with missed education.
Self-isolation guidance changed on 16 August 2021 and children below the age of 18 years
and 6 months were not required to self-isolate if they were identified as a close contact of
someone with COVID-19. Close contacts were now advised to take a PCR test but could
remain in school as long as they did not return a positive result or display symptoms.
Education settings were no longer directed to maintain “bubbles” or for staff or pupils in
secondary schools to wear facemasks, but the following control measures were
maintained:
-

Ensuring that there was good hygiene for everyone.
Maintaining appropriate cleaning regimes.
Keeping occupied spaces well ventilated.
Following public health advice on testing, self-isolation and managing confirmed
cases of COVID-19.

Education settings were no longer responsible for contact tracing for single positive COVID19 cases in their settings, but they needed to notify the local authority if they reached
thresholds for an outbreak and had up to date risk assessments in place, in line with DfE
guidance.
Lateral flow testing was encouraged for all school staff and for secondary age pupils before
they returned to school in September 2021 and continued to be encouraged twice weekly.

Page 6

Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee

Local Authorities, Directors of Public Health and Health Protection Teams continued to be
responsible for managing localised outbreaks and providing support and advice to education
and childcare settings.
An update was given on infection rates and outbreaks since the start of the new academic
year and it was noted that on 18 November 2021 there were 17 outbreaks in schools and
the 7 day North Tyneside infection rate was 450 per 100,000.
Additional short term public health measures had been introduced in education settings from
1 November 2021.
The school-based vaccination programme in North Tyneside was on track and 5,000 students
had been vaccinated in schools.
A Member commented that the vaccination uptake for home educated students was low and
asked how that uptake could be improved and the Senior Manager Public Health undertook
to provide an update on how the Council were working with and targeting home school
children.
Despite the higher numbers of cases and outbreaks in schools there had been less
disruption overall to schools and far fewer instances of classes or schools having to move to
remote learning.
Local Authority Officers from a range of departments would continue to support schools
to prevent and protect the onward transmission of COVID-19, with the expectation that the
rate would peak and would continue to decline.
The full extent of the impact of two interrupted academic years of education was yet to be
realised, however this was being monitored at both national, regional and local level on an
ongoing basis.
Reference was made to the Mental Health pilot project and it was confirmed that fifteen
schools had taken part in the first tranche of mental health awareness training with positive
outcomes and the second tranche of training in schools had begun in autumn 2021. Four
mental health workers would be working in further schools in January 2022.
It was agreed to note the contents of the report.
The Chair thanked the Senior Manager Public Health and the Assistant Director of
Education for the informative report and for attendance at the meeting.

CES19/21

Support for children with Special Needs and disability during the Covid19 pandemic

The Sub-Committee considered a report on the support for children with Special Educational
Needs and Disabilities (SEND) in the Covid-19 pandemic which included funding to schools
for support for children with SEND and an update on data on SEND support, children’s
attendance and exclusion data.

Page 7

Children, Education and Skills Sub-committee

The local authority tracked the levels of young people accessing SEND support through the
North Tyneside schools, as well as those who were supported with an Education, Health and
Care Plan (EHCP).
The overall number of children and young people who had the support of an EHCP
continued to rise and North Tyneside remained an outlier in terms of the proportion of the
local population who had a plan.
The number of requests for assessment had not slowed down during the last twelve months
and this suggested that North Tyneside would continue to be an outlier when compared to
national figures. This high rate of children and young people with identified additional needs
would put pressure on the service and those of the Council’s partners.
Education in the academic year 2020/2021 had rapidly evolved to meet the dynamically
changing needs of children and young people in North Tyneside. Local authority officers
from a range of departments continued to support schools to navigate the plethora of
legislation and guidance documentation presented by government. This had been the same
for all identified groups of children and young people. An additional set of guidance and
expectations were made for children and young people with EHCPs or those who were
deemed to be vulnerable - the key difference being that full attendance was encouraged
earlier. Whilst this additional guidance for children and young people with EHCPs was
available, these groups were no less influenced by outbreaks of Covid-19 and periods of
isolation.
The academic year 2020/2021 was beset by further disruption to pupils’ education, because
of Covid-19. High rates of outbreak within schools and repeated periods of enforced
isolation led to an extended period of closure in the spring term 2021. It required schools to
move to online learning swiftly. Whilst schools had developed better access and content, it
was recognised that generally children and young people with additional needs were
challenged by this way of working. However, some were able to access this way of working
very successfully. Early indications were that the outbreaks and infection rates had no more
or less impact on the group of young people with additional needs.
Continuing high levels of infection during the summer term, particularly within the 10-14
years age range, led to further disruption for pupils. By the time schools began summer
holidays, more than half were deemed in outbreak. Whilst there was no evidence that those
children and young people who had additional needs were unduly impacted when compared
to their peers, the full extent of the impact of two interrupted academic years of education on
this group was yet to be realised.
The return to school in September 2021 had seen continued outbreaks, albeit not at the rate
seen in the summer term.
Despite the challenges that Covid-19 has brought, local authority officers continued to work
with schools to support recovery and to tackle the priorities outlined within the Ambition for
Education Strategy and the SEND Inclusion Strategy to improve outcomes for all pupils and
specifically those with additional needs.

Page 8

Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee

The social work teams continued to provide support and assessments throughout the
pandemic and continued to visit if deemed essential. Visits had now returned to prepandemic frequency.
Short breaks for children and young people with disabilities had continued throughout the
pandemic, though reduced numbers of places were offered at the height of the pandemic,
dependent on risk assessments on clinical vulnerability. Provision was now back to prepandemic levels.
There was currently no waiting list for the overnight short breaks service within North
Tyneside.
The Report also included an update on access to other services including those provided by
health partners, funding and SEND support, attendance and exclusion.
Reference was made to some schools in the Borough which had a disproportionate number
of children with EHCP’s.
A Member commented that some EHCP Plans had 10, 15 or 18 hours which depended on
the diagnosis and the needs identified. The EHCP Plan was the end of a gradual process
and a passport to further support for a child and schools saw it as a right for a child with
special needs.
Reference was made to the increase in the number of exclusions for behavioural issues,
persistent disruptive behaviour and defiance and it was noted that these young people were
supported by cognitive behaviour therapies.
It was agreed to note the contents of the report.
The Chair thanked the Assistant Director of Education and the Interim Assistant Director,
Whole Life Disability, Gateway and Emergency Duty for the informative report and for
attendance at the meeting.

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5

Meeting:

Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee

Date:

13 January 2022

Title:

Update on Children’s Exploitation and Developments in North
Tyneside

Author:

Abby Waites, Senior Manager,
Children’s Safeguarding &
Pete Xeros, Manager, Youth
Justice Service

Service:

HECS

Wards
affected:

All

1.

Purpose of Report

To provide an update to the Children, Education and Skills sub-committee in relation to work
undertaken in 2021 around exploitation including: Missing, Slavery, Exploitation (both criminal
and sexual) and Trafficked (MSET).
The report details the current key priorities, work that has been completed to date by North
Tyneside and Partners in response to exploitation and provide an overview of the current cohort
of children and young people at risk of exploitation and the interventions being completed with
them.
2.

Introduction

Throughout 2021 significant progress has been made by Children’s Social Care and all partners
to build on the actions taken in 2020 to strength our response to all children at risk of exploitation.
In early 2021, the new MSET policies and procedures were agreed, and a copy of the Missing,
Slavery, Exploited, Trafficked (MSET) Strategy 2020-2022 is attached. Training for social

Page 11

workers, Early Help Practitioners and other professionals in relation to the new policies and
procedures was facilitated by the Service Manager for the Social Work.

3.

Details

Assessment Teams (SWAT) along with an Improvement Officer and Northumbria Police. The
training was well attended: 166 practitioners have attended since the start of 2021 and 105 of
those are NTC staff.
The referral form for MSET was also updated to reflect Children’s Social Care and Early Help’s
model of practice, Signs of Safety. Therefore, practitioners now scale risk as opposed to scoring
it.
There are robust measures in place to identify, monitor and review children and young people
who go missing and to consider proportionate and proactive responses to their missing
behaviours in light of the risks of exploitation. These measures include:
3.1 Daily updates
Children’s Social Care and Early Help managers receive daily information about any child/
young person resident in North Tyneside who has gone missing in the previous 24 hours. This
allows for early identification and close monitoring of repeat missing behaviours and ensures all
workers and managers are sighted on young people who are at risk of exploitation.

3.2 Strategy Meetings
Where a young person has been missing for 72 hours, or sooner pending worries, a strategy
meeting would be convened for a young person known to Children’s Social Care or escalated
into a statutory framework if unknown. This allows for information to be shared with all
professionals, an action plan to be developed and an agreement as to when further meetings
will take place. A young person displaying such missing behaviours would also be considered at
Pre MSET.
3.3 Weekly Missing Meetings
This meeting is chaired by the Senior Manager Children in Care and attended by Service
Managers from SWAT, Safe and Supported, Team Leader for Future Steps, Police, a
Residential Manager and Advocacy Service. The purpose of these meetings is to provide
coordinated multi agency oversight and scrutiny of all missing episodes for children that week. It
ensures that Return Home interviews are completed and to understand the narrative behind the
numbers. The meeting aims to identify vulnerable children by considering, multiple missing
episodes patterns and themes and ensures a coordinated multi agency approach.
3.4 Pre MSET

Page 12

This is a monthly meeting attended by the Service Manager for SWAT, a DS from Police, the
Police Missing From Home Coordinator, a Residential Manager, the Future Steps Team Leader,
a Health Professional, an Adult Social Care Team Manager and a Team Leader from Early
Help. Referrals received from social workers and Early Help Practitioners are reviewed and all
the professionals share their relevant information. Based on discussions within Pre MSET,
professionals agree whether to review the young person at Full MSET or to identified specific
actions for the social worker/ Early Help Practitioner, for example disruption activity.
3.5 Full MSET
Chaired by Detective Inspector from the Police and attended by Pre MSET members and Youth
Justice, and any other relevant professionals for specific children/ young people for example
Education. Professionals consider further disruption activities including CAWNS (Child
Abduction Warning Notification). MSET also consider any potential referrals to Future Steps.
3.6 Strategic MSET Group
Chaired by a Detective Inspector with attendance from Children’s and Adult’s Service, Community
Safety, the CCG and Youth Justice. This Group meets quarterly to develop and provide a strategic
overview of exploitation, supporting a proactive partnership where those at risk are identified and
safeguarded, and offenders are disrupted and prosecuted. (Terms of Reference attached.)
The above actions and forums have served to further strengthen and develop partnership
working across services in response to the needs of children and young people at risk of
exploitation.
3.7 Children and Young People at risk of or experiencing exploitation.
We have a good knowledge and understanding of the young people in North Tyneside, and of those
young people who are at risk of exploitation. We know that there is a small cohort of young people
where we have worries about risk taking and safeguarding which are not always a response to the
parenting and care their receive. Consequently, statutory Child Protection processes do not
necessarily meet the needs of these young people. In order to consider the risk to this group of
young people from a different perspective we have identified Contextual Safeguarding as one of our
Multi Agency Safeguarding Arrangements (MASA) key priority areas.
Between January 2021 and 7 December 2021, there were 982 reported missing incidents by 367
young people. This refers to all children and young people resident in North Tyneside, so includes
children/ young people missing from home, children and young people missing from our care and
children and young people placed in the North Tyneside area by other Local Authorities.
All missing episodes of children and young people are either responded to via the MASH (Early
Help), if the child is unknown, or via their allocated worker if they are known to services. There were
419 missing episodes for children in 2020/21, reduced from 541 missing episodes in 2019/20. We
have undertaken significant work throughout 2020/21 to streamline and improve our process for
notification of missing episodes, the offering and recording of Return Home Interviews.

Page 13

A total of 11 children went missing from care during July to September with a total of 24 episodes, 9
of those children were offered return home interviews (82%) and 6 accepted. In addition to offering
RHIs, these young people are regularly visited by advocacy workers and some are now working with
Future Steps. 6 children went missing from home during July to September with a total of 10
episodes, all of those children had a return home interview offered (100%) and 2 accepted.
Where the child is looked after, an independent Return Home Interview (RHI) is offered and
facilitated if wanted via the Advocacy service. Where the child or young person is consistently
missing and at risk of significant harm, swift action will be taken via a Strategy Meeting with a
disruption plan put in place. If the risk increases, the concerns will be presented to the multi-agency
MSET panel.
Children’s Services is seeking to strengthen the robustness of the RHI process by ensuring that the
electronic recording system links the missing incident with the RHI. This will ensure that there is a
linked RHI for every reported missing incident.
There are currently 6 young people whose missing behaviours are of significant concern. All 6 young
people are known to Children’s Social Care: 5 of the young people are children in our care and 1
young person is subject to a Child Protection Plan. The safety, wellbeing, risks and future plans for
all 6 young people are reviewed within the relevant statutory framework with the oversight and
scrutiny of the Independent Reviewing Officer. All the young people are known to and monitored by
Senior Managers and the Assistant Director.
All 6 young people are known to Future Steps, previously referred to as the Adolescent Service, a
Team which has been developed as a direct response to the identified need to work with a specific
cohort of young people in a different way to respond to and reduce the risk to them from exploitation.
3.8 Service Development: Future Steps – Contextual Safeguarding Team
Across North Tyneside there has been an increasing awareness through our MSET processes, of
children/young people identified as being at risk of exploitation and harm outside of the family home.
Future Steps is a new multi-professional service, closely linked to Keeping Families Connected and
Youth Justice Services, designed to work intensively with those young people we are most worried
about.
In line with contextual safeguarding practice, the overall aims of Future Steps are:
1.
Target: prevent, identify, assess, and intervene with the social conditions of abuse in respect
of an individual and/or peer group
2.
Legislation: incorporate extra-familial contexts into child protection frameworks
3.
Partnerships: with sectors/individuals strengthen the response of our partnership to issues of
extra-familial harm
4.
Outcome measures: monitor outcomes for success in relation to contextual, as well as
individual change.

Page 14

Access to the service is governed by the local partnership’s Missing, Slavery, Exploited and
Trafficked (MSET) arrangements, to ensure support is provided to those most in need and with
collective partnership responsibility for the service offer.
The Future Steps Team consists of:
•
Team Leader
•
Social Worker
•
Youth Justice Worker
•
Early Help Worker (single point of contact)
The service has a very clear performance framework and in embedded within the LCS case
management system to enable performance reports to be generated. The performance reports are
tabled at the MSET Strategic Partnership meeting which hold governance responsibilities.
Future Steps went live on the 4th of October 2021. Through discussion with Social Work managers
and using “exploitation makers” on case files and missing data, a group of 8 young people were
identified and approached to work with the team.
Of the 8 young people, 5 are male and 3 are female and all 8 are aged 15 years or more. The 8
young people have the following experiences:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

6 of the 8 cases have experienced/are experiencing neglect.
3 of the 8 cases have experienced a close bereavement of a main caregiver
6 of the 8 cases have experienced parental substance misuse.
7 of the 8 are children of offenders.
4 of the 8 are a cared for child or have previously been.
2 of the 8 are currently facing eviction.
3 of the 8 who are cared for are not staying at their identified accommodation.
6 of the 8 have an EHCP, the other has a learning disability but no EHCP.

Of the initial 8 young people identified to work with Future Steps, 5 are within the current cohort of
young people whose missing behaviours are concerning. The other young person from the current
cohort with high missing behaviours has now been referred into Future Steps. He shares similar
characteristics to those young people identified above.
Although the average age being 15 years old, we are acutely aware of the necessity to have
effective transition arrangements for those turning 18 in place with Adult Social Care. The Future
Steps Team Leader is actively working with to consider how best to work collaboratively with the
Interim Team Manager – Gateway Team/Adult Mash to work on a transition practice framework.

3.9 Future Steps Activity to date
Each young person open to Future Steps has a specific plan over which they have had ownership in
developing. This plan includes both objectives the young person has set and those of the worker.
Some of the objectives the young people have set include:

Page 15

•
•
•
•
•
•

Help to find a job
Help to set up benefits claims
Help with parenting assessment so they can see their child
Support with where they live
Support attending ETE
Activities such as music, arts, pool, fishing and cycling

The workers are also involved in a wide range of developmental activities which include:
•
building up community links.
•
taking the lead within the regional exploitation hub,
•
mapping connections of those involved in exploiting young people,
•
Identifying locations/hotspots
•
Building close links with residential staff.
3.10 Future Steps Initial Impact
Future Steps involvement has already resulted in some clear outcomes for children and young
people:
•
Significant increase in the level of contacts with young people (average 8/10 times weekly)
•
Increase in attendance in Education, Training or Employment.
•
Reduction in Missing episodes
•
Reduction in the frequency of offending
•
Improved understanding of the perpetrator networks/individuals.
Development of relationships with community-based provision to aid exit strategies.
3.11 Conclusions and Recommendation
Significant progress has been made during 2021 in embedding the strategic and operational
oversight and scrutiny required to identify, monitor and review children and young people at risk of
exploitation. The establishment of Future Steps has created a Team which can focus on the risks
presented by contextual safeguarding and which can work intensively with children and young
people at risk of exploitation.
There are future actions identified for 2022 to build on the progress to date:
•
The development of a Strategic Action Plan around exploitation across the partnership and
across both children and vulnerable adults
•
The recruitment of a dedicated Missing Coordinator to coordinate the completion of RHIs and
ensure even more robust monitoring of missing episodes and emerging themes and concerns
•
The Review and Evaluation of the Future Steps Team
•
Implementation of system change to ensure that missing incidents and missing return
interviews are more effectively linked within the electronic recording system.
The recommendation to this sub-committee is to discuss and review this report and identify and
outline any further assurances that members may wish to see in place around this group of children
and young people.

Page 16

4.

Background Information
The following documents have been used in the compilation of this report and may be
inspected at the offices of the author.
Documents used are listed within appendices below.

5.

Appendices
•
•
•

MSET Strategy
Strategic MSET Terms of Reference.
Future Steps Strategy

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Missing, Slavery, Exploited,
Trafficked (MSET) Strategy
2020-22

1

Page 19

Introduction
Safeguarding children and young people is everyone’s business in North Tyneside.
This is particularly the case with child exploitation, missing children and children who
are at risk of, or who have been trafficked. Individuals be that professionals or
members of the public, agencies, and partnerships can all play their part in
safeguarding our children. It is vital that people know what to look for and what to do
if they suspect exploitation. Child sexual exploitation and trafficking destroys lives and
its effects damage our communities.
This strategy outlines the commitment of North Tyneside Children’s Services and their
Safeguarding Children Partnership to make sure professionals work together
effectively to identify exploitation, protect those who are at risk, support victims and
disrupt and prosecute criminals who exploit children.
Jacqui Old
Director of Children’s Services
North Tyneside Council

Deborah Alderson
D.Chief Superintendent
Northumbria Police

Lesley Young-Murphy
Chief Operating Officer
CCG

Our Passion
‘Our Passion’ is to make North Tyneside an even greater place for children and young
people to thrive; where all, including those who are vulnerable, disadvantaged or
disabled have the best possible life.
The Missing, Slavery, Exploitation and Trafficked (MSET) panel has been developed
to provide an effective response to some of our most vulnerable children and young
people who do go missing or become exploited. Children and young people, who are
assessed as at medium or high risk of exploitation, will be provided with a coordinated
response, formulated across the MSET partners to consider the worries and how best
to disrupt and prevent exploitation and violence.
North Tyneside Safeguarding Children Partnership (NTSCP) believe that this is a key
priority area and are committed to addressing the worries around children going
missing from home, care or school, being abused through child sexual and criminal
exploitation along with concerns of exposure to modern-day slavery and trafficking.
This strategy builds upon the significant work already taking place and sets out how
all agencies will work together to provide the most effective and co-ordinated response
over the next two years to prevent children and young people being exploited and
being missing.
Our Purpose
‘Our Purpose’ is to ensure that children and young people in North Tyneside are safe,
healthy, have a voice, have opportunities, and are happy.
The MSET partnership are invested in protecting the safety of children and young
people in North Tyneside. The MSET panel works with children and young people
2

Page 20

whose safety is a growing worry through being missing or exploited. Referral to MSET
will provide a robust disruption plan for those at risk of exploitation allowing
safeguarding to be as early and effective as possible.
North Tyneside Council and our partner agencies condemn any form of exploitation of
children, young people and adults. The MSET panel has the joint aim of preventing all
levels of harm and vulnerability whilst supporting victims of exploitation and working
with the police to prevent and stop the cycle of harm.
Strategic planning and collaborative multi-agency working allows for effective
leadership and progress in our understanding and practice regarding MSET, the
impact of this is to improve the lives of children and young people at risk of harm and
exploitation.
In order to achieve this we have strengthened the early identification and assessment
of children at risk; we want to raise awareness across North Tyneside within agencies,
communities, children and their families; continue to improve the victim experience to
ensure intervention, protection and support is provided, including therapeutic support
and access to specialist services into adulthood; and lead in disrupting perpetrator
behaviour and bring offenders to justice through continually understanding the local
profile and risk assessments which address criminal activity.
Whilst this strategy relates specifically to children it is important to recognise that there
are some adults who are victims of non-recent sexual abuse and trafficking. The
identification of an adult who has been exploited or is being exploited can lead to the
identification of risk to children.
Agencies should also be prepared to work across borders with partners in other Local
Authority areas in order to effectively respond to child who are missing or at risk / are
being exploitation
Our Pledges
1. We will intervene early with evidence-based, family-focused services
2. We will work in partnership to keep children in school
3. We will keep children and young people safe at home, healthy and connected
to their local communities
To fulfil ‘Our Pledges’, MSET will prioritise the following actions:
•

Develop an informed and supported workforce and partnership, including
the offer of training and development in relation to exploitation;

•

Aim to strengthen the existing multi-agency structures and information
sharing arrangements in order to obtain a clearer picture of abuse and
identify opportunities for earlier intervention;

3

Page 21

•

Raise awareness of exploitation within the local community via posters and
leaflets;

•

Empower children and young people as well as their family and network, to
understand exploitation and the worries that can accompany missing
episodes, to build strategies for managing this and confidence in the
response they will gain from services;

•

Prioritising supportive relationships between young people and key
practitioners to promote trust.

Our Principles
We will:
•

Work to give the right help at the right time

•

Work only for as long as necessary

•

Work openly, honestly and respectfully

•

Work to build strong relationships with those we work with

•

Work with the whole family and network to bring about change

These principles have been developed within North Tyneside Children’s Services and
provide a strong foundation for MSET in responding to children and young people who
are at risk of going missing, being exploited or trafficked. As a partnership we have
committed to the principles and have developed further our commitment in relation to
MSET this includes:
•

We seek to build resilience amongst children and young people to prevent
vulnerabilities from escalating into exploitation through early intervention.

•

We will aim to protect our young people and the wider community from the potential
harms of exploitation, violence and abuse and provide individualised assessments.

•

We seek to work to have the right people and agencies being involved at the right
time to safeguard our young people.

•

We will invest in and equip our workforce and partner agencies to understand and
identify exploitation risks and respond in the safest most effective way possible and
escalate appropriately so the right support is put in place and the right time.

•

We will continue to refine the work we do around our young people who go missing,
and our responses and support for them.

4

Page 22

The Multi Agency Safeguarding Arrangements (MASA) echo our commitment to
safeguarding against exploitation. The MASA principles compliment and support those
outlined above:
•

Seeing things through the eyes of children and young people, practitioners
and partners

•

Listening to what people, practitioners and partners tell us

•

Streamlining and integrating partnership arrangements, where appropriate

•

Inclusive approach to scrutiny, assurance and learning

•

Supporting and informing wider multi-agency and regional activity

•

An approach based on better understanding of needs, vulnerabilities and risks

•

A transparent, inclusive and accountable approach to partnership working

The principles outlined above reflect our mutual commitment to prevent and disrupt
exploitation by working together to gather, share and understand information and
intelligence to protect the child/young person and to discuss perpetrators, related
locations, peer groups to identify potential risks of grooming and further exploitation

Our Practice Standards
Children will:
•

Be listened to and we will act on what they tell us

•

Have people important to them involved in helping

•

Have their needs clearly understood

•

Have a plan that tells those who need to know how to keep them safe and meet
their needs

•

Only have help for as long as they need it

•

Be able to understand all the things written about them

•

Have help that follows the rules

•

Have help from workers who get the advice and support they need to do a good
job

MSET is a multi-agency approach to the exploitation of children and young people, in
line with ‘Our Practice Standards’ MSET is child-centred with all decisions being made
based on the individual child/young person’s safeguarding needs. We will include and
5

Page 23

value our young people’s voices throughout our work, our response, and in how we
develop our services.
To allow MSET to work in accordance with our practice standards we have:
•

Amended our MSET Policy, making this more accessible to the workforce,
partner agencies and public alike;

•

Reviewed our Risk Assessment Tool so this fits with our practice model (Signs
of Safety);

•

Researched good practice from other areas to enhance our responses;

•

Delivered workforce development sessions relating to Contextual Safeguarding
issues;

•

Produced an awareness poster and leaflet to be distributed in our communities.

Governance and Partnership
NTSCP is the responsible body for the strategy and action plan which supports and
influences work across North Tyneside to safeguard children who are victims or at risk
of exploitation, children missing from home, school and care and child trafficking.
To support the strategy the board has a strategic group and an operational group as
detailed below.
Progress of this strategy will be monitored by the MSET Strategic Group, by working
in accordance with an agreed detailed action plan, considering local need and learning
from national research and practice.
The roles within the governance structure are:
MSET Strategic Group: This is the strategic sub-group that drives the multi-agency
strategy, develops and agrees the approach to commissioning multi-agency operating
models and ensures the implementation and effectiveness of this strategy. It reports
directly to NTSCP.
MSET Leads Group: The operational group ensures the service delivery and seeks
to obtain intelligence to identify patterns and trends. The group consider those children
at highest risk of repeat missing episodes and children at risk or who have experiences
of child trafficking. The group reports to responsible senior officers in the Council and
Police. The group also report to the MSET Strategic Group.

6

Page 24

Strategic MSET Group
(Missing, Slavery, Exploited, Trafficked)
Terms of Reference
The Strategic MSET Group is a joint group between North Tyneside Safeguarding Children’s
Board, North Tyneside Safeguarding Adults Board and North Tyneside Community Safety
Partnership.

Purpose

The aspiration is to develop a strategic overview of exploitation, supporting a proactive
partnership where those at risk are identified and safeguarded, and offenders are disrupted
and prosecuted.
MSET will incorporate a number of areas of vulnerability:





Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE);
Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE);
Missing from home;
Modern Slavery and Trafficking.

The joint Strategic MSET Group will take a lead role in overseeing the implementation of a
strategic action plan to address all forms of exploitation across North Tyneside; to include
those outlined above.
Further to oversight of the MSET Panel and Operational Leads Group, the Strategic MSET
Group will have oversight of the North Tyneside Council Adolescent Service which
incorporates the aforementioned areas of vulnerability via the auspices of Contextual
Safeguarding Theory.

Aims

The Strategic MSET Group exists to contribute to the safeguarding of children and young
people in North Tyneside through co-ordinating & overseeing the partnership response to
exploitation by:
i.

To meet legislative requirements, government guidance and implement recognised
best practice to improve the safety and outcomes for children who are at risk of child
sexual exploitation (CSE), child criminal exploitation (CCE), children who go missing,
those that are trafficked and victims of modern-day slavery;

Page 25

1

ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.

vii.

viii.
ix.
x.

xi.

Oversee NTCs proactive and preventative approach to preventing exploitation;
To have assurances that there is effective information sharing across the partnership;
To have assurances that there is multi-agency training across the partnership;
Have a clear understanding of the prevalence of child exploitation within North
Tyneside;
To support the wider multi-agency partnership in its duty to safeguard children and
young people from harm, including harm caused by CSE, CCE, trafficking, modern
slavery, and from going missing, in accordance with the policies, procedures and
guidance of the North Tyneside Safeguarding Children Partnership;
We will seek to prevent children from being harmed by CCE and reduce the number
of children who go missing in the borough, protect those who have been harmed,
disrupt and prosecute offenders who have harmed/present a risk of harm to them
and ensure that partners are effectively contributing towards each element of that
strategy;
Improve awareness, reporting and safeguarding of victims of CSE, CCE, missing and
trafficked children in North Tyneside and to bring perpetrators to justice;
Monitor the effectiveness of services and procedures in this area, across the
partnership, ensuring that these are managed in line with statutory guidance;
Maintain both a strategic and operational view of progress and impact of local
arrangements in relation to missing children and for those looked after children
placed out of borough;
Gather, scrutinise and analyse performance management information relating to the
issues and set out improvements in outcomes for children, progress on
implementation of the strategy and any identified risks and challenges.

The group members are responsible for driving forward performance, as well as
disseminating the learning and action plans within their own organisation. They will promote
the MSET and Adolescent Service principles and procedures are embedded in day to day
practice.
Strategic MSET Group Membership

Core membership of the Strategic MSET Group will include senior managers / decision
makers within the following disciplines:
Northumbria Police (Chair)
Children’s Services NTC
NTSCP Board
Senior Manager, Social Work
Practice NTC
Health (CCG)
Adults Social Care NTC
Educations Safeguarding
Community Safety
MSET Operational Chair
Youth Justice Service Senior
Manager

Detective Inspector (Safeguarding Strategic Support),
Lynne Colledge
Assistant Director, Julie Firth
NTSCP Business Manager, Sue Burns
Senior Manager Children’s Safeguarding and Front
Door, Vicky McLeod
Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children, Jan
Hemmingway
Assistant Director Business and Quality Assurance, Ellie
Anderson
TBC
Senior Manager, Technical & Regulatory Services, Colin
MacDonald
Sergeant Missing from Home Coordinator, Sharron
Brennan
Service Manager, Pete Xeros

Page 26

2

The above role holders are core group members however, the group may co-opt additional
representatives where appropriate to attend including but not limited to: 


Licensing and Regulatory Services
UK Border Agency

The above role holders are core group members; however, the group may co-opt additional
representatives where appropriate.
Quoracy of the Strategic MSET Group shall be defined as members from three statutory
agencies unless otherwise agreed by the Chair.

Frequency of the meetings

Quarterly meetings for 2 hours and additional extraordinary meetings as agreed and when
necessary.
Chairing Arrangements

In the absence of the Chair at any committee meeting, the committee will nominate a
deputy-Chair for the purpose of that meeting only. This nomination will be selected from the
Strategic MSET Group members.
The Strategic MSET Group Chair will:







Chair the meeting;
Arrange the minutes of the meetings;
Propose a draft and confirmed agenda for each meeting;
Allocate actions and review at each meeting;
Will provide minutes of previous meetings and arrange the dissemination of
information and appropriate attachments to members in a timely manner;
Raise any concerns/issues raised from the Strategic MSET Group to the Operational
Leads Group.

Performance and Accountability

The Strategic MSET Group will report directly to the NTSCP Executive Group.

Date Reviewed: 6 April 2021
By: Rachael Dover, Improvement Officer

Page 27

3

Page 28

4

NORTH TYNESIDE

FUTURE STEPS
SERVICE

Strategy
2020-2022

Page 29

North Tyneside Future Steps Service Strategy 2020-2022

Contents

Introduction

Introduction

3

Our Passion

4

Our Purpose

5

Our Pledges

6

Our Principles

7

Our Practice Standards

8

How we will know if we are succeeding

9

Definitions

10

Page 30

- County Lines

10

- Child Sexual Exploitation

10

- Child Criminal Exploitation

10

- Who is vulnerable?

11

This strategy will demonstrate the ways in
which North Tyneside Council’s Future Steps
Service is committed to the council’s vision
and mission to safeguard young people in
our communities.
Our passion is to make North Tyneside
an even greater place for young people to
thrive; where all, including those who are
vulnerable, disadvantaged, have special
educational needs or are disabled have the
best possible life. We want every child and
young person in the Borough to be safe,
healthy, have opportunities, have a voice
and to be happy.

The service is holistic, and the approaches
are partnership wide. The service maintains
and enhances links with our close
partnership relations and internal services
to look for the best possible outcome for
these young people.
This Strategy is for these young people.

We know that these outcomes are only
possible when young people are protected
and safe in their communities; when they can
achieve their own sense of identity and
belonging as they grow up and transition
into adulthood – without the danger of
exploitation hindering their opportunities.

Jacqui Old
Director of Children’s Services

2

These outcomes are the priority of North
Tyneside’s emerging Future Steps Service
which seeks to disrupt exploitation and
support the young people of our Borough to
choose a different path, away from the
clutches of exploitative perpetrators.

Councillor Peter Early
Lead Member for Children, Young People
and Learning

3

North Tyneside Future Steps Service Strategy 2020-2022

Our Passion
Our passion is to make North Tyneside
an even greater place for children and
young people to thrive; where all, including
those who are vulnerable, disadvantaged or
disabled have the best possible life.

Taking into consideration each child/young
person’s needs, level of risk and other
individual factors, this pool of professionals
will assess and plan how best to intervene
to safeguard the child/young person, led by
the Clinical Psychologist formulation.
The intervention and support offered by the
service is high intensity and includes weekly
reviews of cases to disrupt or limit the risk of
extra-familial harm as early and effectively
as possible.

Our purpose is to ensure that all children
and young people in North Tyneside are
safe, healthy, have opportunities, have a
voice and are happy. The Future Steps
Service incorporates the theory of
Contextual Safeguarding, with the belief that
for children and young people to be safe,
healthy, have opportunities, have a voice
and be happy safeguarding must take into
consideration the wider contexts of a young
person’s life, given that risks do not only
present/occur at home.
“Contextual Safeguarding … means
assessment of children should consider
whether wider environmental factors are
present in a child’s life, that are a threat to
their safety, and/or welfare …” 1

Page 31

The Future Steps Service has been
developed to fulfil this passion specifically
for the rising number of children/young
people in the borough identified as at risk, or
subject to extra-familial risks. Extra-familial
risks are those which occur outside of a
child/young person’s home, for example in
peer groups, schools or neighbourhoods.
These risks include but are not limited to
Child Sexual Exploitation, Child Criminal
Exploitation and County Lines (see end of
document for definitions).

Our Purpose

The Future Steps Service is closely linked to
the Keeping Families Connected (KFC) and
Youth Justice service, sharing a common
pool of professionals from a range of internal
services and partner agencies, including:
Clinical Psychology, Police, Residential
Worker, Speech and Language, Leisure,
Community Protection and Housing, Training
and Skills and Education. This group of
shared professionals work in addition to the
core team consisting of a team leader and
two adolescent workers.

This means that when considering a case,
professionals will take into account a broad
range of contexts that may relate to each
other to pose a risk to the child or young
person, therefore offering the child/young
person an holistic intervention that can target
multiple areas of difficulty.

Statutory guidance ‘Working Together to
Safeguard Children 2018’ recognises that
external risks must be considered and
addressed in assessments and responses
to cases. The aims of the Future Steps
Service have been shaped by this guidance
and the theory of Contextual Safeguarding
to focus on:

1

4

• the social conditions of abuse,
• legislation that incorporates extra-familial
contexts
• responding to extra-familial farm by using
and developing strong partnerships
• success which considers contextual
change, as well as individual change.

University of Bedfordshire, Contextual Safeguarding Network –
A 2020 Update on the operational, strategic and conceptual framework

5

North Tyneside Future Steps Service Strategy 2020-2022

Our Pledges
1. We will intervene early with evidencebased, family-focused services
2. We will work in partnership to keep
children in school
3. We will keep children and young people
safe at home, healthy and connected to
their local communities
The core offer of the Future Steps Service
commits to the 3 North Tyneside pledges
above. The service offers intensive
seven-day week access for a maximum of
20 weeks. The intervention is child-centred
with a ‘no glove fits all approach’ to each
case.

Page 32

There are two routes to be referred into the
service. The main route is through the
MSET (Missing, Slavery, Exploitation and
Trafficked) panel. Alternatively, if the risk of
exploitation is so great, the Senior Manager
of Front Door, Safeguarding and Children’s
Services can agree to a direct referral.
Once received, a referral is allocated to the
appropriate worker in the core team to gather
information, including three goals set by the
young person.
After information is gathered and goals are
set, a formulation meeting led by the Clinical
Psychologist will take place. Its aim is to
summarise the child/young person’s core
problems, suggest how difficulties in their life
may relate to each other, explain on the
basis of psychological theory the
development and maintenance of these
difficulties, and finally to indicate a plan of
intervention.

6

Our Principles
The Clinical Psychologist will encourage
everyone at the meeting to feel at ease to
discuss and share ideas about the young
person, who is also invited to attend.
The information gathered during the meeting
will be used by the Clinical Psychologist to
write a plan of intervention. The goals set by
the young person will be core to the plan and
intervention.
As the Future Steps Service is centred on
safeguarding in wider contexts, such as
neighbourhoods and peer groups, it is
particularly important that everyone in the
community plays their part. This contributes
to a wider understanding of how
neighbourhoods are used in antisocial or
unsafe ways and will be achieved through
continued public awareness and
campaigning.
The overall intervention offer seeks to
reduce risks of exploitation, improve
wellbeing, enable stable living situations
and supportive relationships. Whilst working
with the children/young people intensively
at an individual level, the service will build
on the strengths of the family/network to
ensure robust, collaborative practice which
considers the needs and strengths of the
young person and their family/network.

We will:
• Work to give the right help at the right time
• Work only for as long as necessary
• Work openly, honestly and respectfully
• Work to build strong relationships with
those we work with
• Work with the whole family and network
to bring about change
The principles of the Future Steps Service
are much in line with North Tyneside’s
principles, but focus more specifically on
Children and Young People who are at risk
of extra-familial harm, to ensure that they
have access to appropriate support and
intervention in order to achieve the best
outcomes.

The principles of the service are as follows:
• Work with young people to promote their
development (autonomy, aspirations and
skills);
• Promote strong supportive bonds between
young people and their network to achieve
security;
• Empower the young person’s family/
network, focus on their strengths to build
on strategies already in place, build on
feelings of hope, identify protective
measures, and build on the family/
network’s confidence;
• Listen to our young people to understand
the vulnerability factors;
• Instil in young people that they are assets
and draw on their strengths and build their
self-worth and resilience;
• Encourage strong supportive
relationships between young people and
key practitioners to promote trust;
• Holistically support the young people and
avoid labelling adolescents by the risks
they face, or the behaviour they display.

7

North Tyneside Future Steps Service Strategy 2020-2022

Our Practice Standards

Page 33

Children will:
• Be listened to and we will act on what
they tell us
• Have people important to them involved in
helping
• Have their needs clearly understood
• Have a plan that tells those who need to
know how to keep them safe and meet
their needs
• Only have help for as long as they need it
• Be able to understand all the things
written about them
• Have help that follows the rules
• Have help from workers who get the
advice and support they need to do a
good job

Additionally, the Practice Standards are
embedded throughout the service offer, as
the Child/Young person is encouraged to
attend meetings about the formulation of
their plan, share their views and concerns,
and also set goals that they want to achieve,
ensuring that the offer is in accordance with
what the Child/Young Person desires.
It is important to note that Children/ Young
People affected by exploitation may not
see themselves as victims and can often
lack trust. They may also show high levels
of fear and trauma, again reinforcing that the
service will not offer a ‘one glove fits all
approach’.

How we will know
if we are succeeding
This Strategy is deliberately ambitious.
This is a new service; we know there is a lot
to do and a lot to learn. We want to:
•
Develop our workforce;
•
Challenge ourselves;
•
Use data to improve our performance;
•
Continuously develop our service.

the difference, we are trying to make with
this Strategy has improved their lives.
We will be asking them on a regular basis
how they think we are doing. Their voice
will be the best test about whether we have
delivered and empowered them as early as
possible. This is what this is all about.

Each of these elements has several actions
that will be regularly reviewed. Nevertheless,
this Strategy is ultimately about the lived
experience young people in our Borough and
it will not be a success if they do not feel that

The impact of the Future Steps Service will
be measured by a number of indicators that
will ensure the service is succeeding in
meeting our Practice Standards which are
listed above.
The indicators measure the extent to which
goals set by the young person are achieved,
young people develop positive, trusted
relationships and that young people are
supported at the earliest opportunity to
prevent escalation and further exploitation
(for full list please see Future Steps Policy).

8

9

North Tyneside Future Steps Service Strategy 2020-2022

Definitions
County Lines
A term used to describe gangs and
organised criminal networks involved in
exporting illegal drugs into importing areas in
the UK.

Page 34

Key facts:
• They are likely to exploit children and
vulnerable adults to store and move drugs
and money,
• They often use coercion, intimidation,
violence (including sexual) and weapons,
• More often than not involve an exchange,
victim is promised or given something
they want or need (e.g. money, drugs,
protection). Or, the victim carries out
exchange to prevent something negative
(e.g. harm to their family),
• Exchanges occur within unequal power
dynamic, meaning if a vulnerable
individual receives something as part of
the deal, they are not less of a victim.

Child Sexual Exploitation
A form of child sexual abuse which occurs
where an individual/group take advantage of
an imbalance of power to coerce, manipulate
or deceive any male or female under the age
of 18 into sexual activity for two reasons.
1) in exchange for something the victim
wants/needs. 2) For financial or status gain
of the perpetrator or facilitator.

• May be accompanied by violence or
threats of violence,
• Power imbalance may not only be due to
age, but also gender, sexual identity,
cognitive ability, physical strength, status
and access to resources (economic or
other).

Child Criminal Exploitation
A common form of exploitation in county lines
which occurs where an individual or group
take advantage of an imbalance of power to
coerce, control, manipulate or deceive a child
or young person under the age of 18.
Key facts:
• The victim may have been criminally
exploited even if the activity appears
consensual,
• Can occur through use of technology
• Broader than county lines, including for
example children forced to commit theft,
• May be accompanied by violence or
threats of violence.
• There is a form of power imbalance in
favour of those perpetrating the abuse.

Who is vulnerable?
Any child, in any community, of any age is
vulnerable to child exploitation. Although
there are some heightened vulnerability
factors:
• Having a prior experience of neglect,
physical and/or sexual abuse;
• Lack of a safe/stable home environment,
now or in the past (domestic violence or
parental substance misuse, mental health
issues or criminality, for example);
• Recent bereavement or loss;
• Being excluded from mainstream
education;
• Social isolation or social difficulties;
• Absence of a safe environment to explore
sexuality /sexual identity;
• Economic vulnerability;
• Homelessness or insecure accommodation
status;

• Connections with other children and
young people who are being sexually or
criminally exploited or with other people
nvolved in gangs;
• Family members or other connections
involved in adult sex work;
• Having mental health or substance misuse
issues;
• Having a physical or learning disability;
• Being in care (particularly those in
residential care and those with interrupted
care histories).

Key facts:
• The victim may have been sexually
exploited even if it appears consensual,
• Can occur through use of technology

10

11

www.northtyneside.gov.uk

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Meeting: Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee
Date:

13 January 2022

Title:

Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education (RSE)
and Health Education Policy and online safety

Author:

Elaine Robson, Lisa Wardingham, Claire Graham

Service: Health, Education, Care and Safeguarding
All
Wards
affected:
1. Purpose of Report
The purpose of this report is to:
• Explain the statutory responsibilities on school and LA in relation to the implementation of
the Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) and Health Education
Curriculum.
• Identify the issues highlighted by the Everyone’s Invited campaign, Ofsted review main
findings, and online safety concerns.
• Summarise work being done as a result of the findings of a recent safeguarding audit sent to
schools on peer on peer abuse which aimed to understand the need for a local response to
the Ofsted review into sexual abuse in schools.
• Highlight specific challenges for NT and support offered.
2. Introduction
Today’s children and young people are growing up in an increasingly complex world and living
their lives seamlessly on and offline. This presents positive and exciting opportunities, but also
challenges and risks. In this environment, children and young people need to know how to be
safe and healthy, and how to manage their personal, social and academic lives in a positive way.
To help children and young people to learn the skills and knowledge to live healthy, safe and
happy lives in modern society, in September 2020, the DfE made Relationships Education
compulsory in all primary schools, Relationships and Sex Education compulsory in all secondary
schools and Health Education compulsory in all state-funded schools.
Due to the impact of Covid 19 schools were given a degree of flexibility with the implementation
of these subjects but since September 2021 all schools have been expected to teach all content
listed in the statutory guidance that can be found here. This document contains information on
what schools should do and sets out the legal duties with which schools must comply when
teaching Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) and Health Education.

Page 37

The introduction of these statutory subjects as part of Personal, Social, Health and Economic
(PSHE) education in schools was well overdue. This was highlighted in 2020, when a website
called Everyone’s Invited was created, aimed at providing a safe place for young people who had
experienced sexual violence and sexual harassment in education settings to share their
experiences. The anonymous testimonies of thousands of young people uncovered the
prevalence of sexual violence, sexual harassment including online sexual abuse, in schools,
colleges, universities and society generally. This predominantly impacted on girls and young
women but was experienced by young men too.
This led to Ofsted carrying out an urgent review of sexual abuse in schools and colleges by visiting
a number of schools in Spring 2021, identified on the Everyone’s Invited website, and others not
named. 32 settings were visited overall. The review discovered that in some schools, colleges
and universities, incidents were so common young people felt there was no point in reporting
them. Amongst a number of recommendations provided by Ofsted, school and college leaders
were advised to ‘create a culture where sexual harassment and online sexual abuse are not
tolerated, and where they identify issues and intervene early to better protect children and young
people. In order to do this, they should assume that sexual harassment and online sexual abuse
are happening in their setting, even when there are no specific reports, and put in place a wholeschool approach to address them.’ The full report and recommendations based on this review by
Ofsted can be found here.
Further detail about the RSHE curriculum, the Ofsted review into the Everyone’s Invited campaign
and our actions so far will be summarised below.
3. Details
3.1

Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education and Health Education
Statutory expectations.

In June 2019 the DfE published statutory guidance for governing bodies, proprietors, head
teachers, principals, senior leader and teachers containing information on what schools should
do, setting out the legal duties with which schools must comply when teaching Relationships
Education, Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) and Health Education.
This document was shared with all head teachers and PSHE leads in school at the time and has
been recirculated and referred to on many occasions since. All schools were invited to attend
training and briefing sessions to help plan the implementation of the statutory content and 61%
took up this offer.
A recent ‘RSE Ready?’ survey of PSHE education leads in North Tyneside, schools indicated
that of the 60 replies:
•
•
•
•

93.3% of schools have updated their policies to reflect the statutory content and 6.7% are
working on this.
81.7% of schools have consulted parents on this policy and 18.3% are working on this.
91.7% have updated PSHE education schemes of work to include the statutory content and 8.3%
are working on it
83.4% of schools are confident that they are covering all statutory content.

PSHE education leads receive regular communications about resources available to support the
implementation of the statutory curriculum. Networks sessions are offered termly, staff CPD is
available to primary schools through the SLA and online training opportunities and resources
are regularly shared.

Page 38

All schools should now be fully aware of the content of the statutory guidance and should have
made every effort to implement it. This responsibility ultimately lies with school leaders.
3.2

Ofsted Review key findings

As a result of the Everyone’s Invited Campaign, Ofsted were asked by the government to carry
out a rapid review of sexual abuse in schools and colleges. The review included visits to 32
settings, interviews with over 900 children and young people and conversations with school
leaders, teachers, parents, governors and Local Safeguarding Partnerships (LSPs). The review
report can be found here.
The following graph illustrates some key findings from the report:
Figure 1: These things happen ‘a lot’ or ‘sometimes’ between people my age (%)

The Ofsted review highlighted the prevalence of online sexual abuse that children and young
people experienced, especially being sent sexual pictures or videos that they did not want to
see. The diagram below indicates the extent of this problem:

Page 39

Figure 2: These things happen ‘a lot’ or ‘sometimes’ between people my age (%)

A summary of the key findings can be found in section 6 Background information.
Following this review Ofsted made a number of recommendations for schools and college
leaders, multi-agency partners, the government, inspectorates and Local Safeguarding
Partnerships. The DfE guidance on Keeping Children Safe in Education was updated in 2021 to
reflect these issues. This is underpinned by the reviewed 2021 guidance on Sexual Violence
and Sexual Harassment between children in schools and colleges.
Subsequently, the Ofsted framework was updated to ensure schools address peer on peer
abuse, sexual harassment on and off line and sexual violence. Links to these documents can be
found in the appendices.
3.3 Our response so far
The recommendations made by Ofsted have been shared with all schools through head teacher
briefings, DSL briefings, PSHE lead networks and electronic communications.
PSHE education
The importance of the PSHE education curriculum in preventing sexual violence and sexual
harassment in schools has been highlighted and curriculum resources provided to help schools
strengthen this provision. PSHE networks have been used to discuss how to address this issue
and schools have had opportunity to share good practice.
The ‘RSE Ready?’ survey highlighted the need for further staff training particularly in secondary
schools. Colleagues in both primary and secondary schools reported they would benefit from
training and support in dealing with and education about peer on peer abuse, sexual violence and
harassment and online safety and relationships.
Work underway to support the White Ribbon Accreditation in North Tyneside has highlighted a
need for more targeted work with boys and young men as part of PSHE education. Teaching
resources that promote positive male role models and challenging old fashioned male stereotypes
have been sourced and shared with schools.

Page 40

Online Safety
Online safety teaching lies within the computing curriculum and the teaching and training
materials used by LA are regularly updated to consider new trends or report findings. (Previous
large-scale examples of this would include ‘The Momo Challenge’ in February 2019).
Advice and support about any national trends are shared with schools, usually in conjunction
with the safeguarding team as not all schools choose to access the wider computing support.
Recent computing network information has had an online focus. Seeking to raise the profile
and importance of the curriculum strand while making it clear that links to other subject areas
need to be strengthened, particularly RSE and PSHE education, to ensure:
•
•
•

clarity of message
age appropriate advice
no gaps in curriculum content

LA staff access national forums, webinars and training to ensure that any advice and guidance
to schools is current. Regular conversations with the Prevention through Education Police team
also ensure that any advice given is accurate in terms of legal implications.
There is a renewed commitment to ensure that all LA staff:
•
•
•
•

are aware of current potential online risks
can identify risks specific to their subject area
know how to support school staff they work closely with
know where to access further guidance and support

Wider LA work is ongoing to find new ways to engage with schools who do not currently access
computing support and therefore LA online safety advice and guidance (mainly High schools).
Safeguarding
The Designated Safeguarding Leads DSLs (and Deputies-DDSLs) have access to termly
Designated Safeguarding Lead briefing and termly newsletters. All aspects of safeguarding in
schools are shared with DSLs through these forums.
Peer on Peer abuse (including Sexual Violence and Harassment) and online safety agenda
items are regular features at these sessions or through the termly newsletters. The SIAs for
PSHE and ICT regularly contribute to the safeguarding information that is shared with DSLs.
The content of the original 2018 version of DfE Sexual violence and Sexual harassment
between children in schools and colleges was delivered at a DSL briefing at that time and
schools subsequently began to think about Peer on Peer abuse policies and procedures that
needed to be in place. This involved ensuring an effective curriculum around healthy
relationships and understanding the role technology has in facilitating peer on peer abuse.
More recently, the Everyone’s Invited website encouraged schools to shine a spotlight on this
issue once again. The 2018 guidance supported schools to understand the issue existed but
the more recent focus on sexual violence and harassment between peers and the subsequent
Ofsted review has highlighted just how widespread the issue is.
The DSL briefing in June 2021 gave an update on the reviewed version of DfE Sexual violence
and Sexual harassment between children in schools and colleges. This guidance was reviewed

Page 41

in line with the findings from the Ofsted review on Sexual Abuse in Schools. The updates
focussed on ensuring school recognised and addressed the issues and were starting to move
towards a culture change. Schools were also guided through the updated ‘Sexting’ guidance
which has now been updated to ‘Sharing of Nudes and Semi Nudes’ which is the sending or
posting of nude or semi-nude images, videos or live streams by young people under the age of
18 online.
This information was reiterated through the publication of the September 2021 DfE Keeping
Children Safe in Education and the full content of this was discussed with DSLs at the briefing
the same month. Schools were also supported to update their child protection policy at that
time.
Following discussions regarding all the above issues, meetings were initiated with the North
Tyneside Safeguarding Children Partnership (NTSCP) to begin to formulate a local response
that would support schools but also be underpinned by a multi-agency approach to peer on peer
abuse. For the partnership to understand the issues schools are facing, a survey was sent out
and asked the following questions:
1. What are the issues currently raised by pupils in your school linked to peer on peer
abuse? (this may include issues that occur in school, out of school, online, on school
transport etc)
2. Are the current systems (both internal and external) for reporting peer on peer abuse
understood and accessible by all staff and pupils? (this may include staff responses to
pupils, pupil’s confidence to report to staff, DSL knowledge and skills, multi-agency
responses and involvement)
3. Where is your school at with the implementation of the newer aspects of the
Relationships Education policy particularly relating to peer on peer abuse? (this may
include issues relating to the review of curriculum content, curriculum time, staff training
and staff confidence)
4. Do you feel your staff understand the law and legal parameters when it comes to peer
on peer abuse? (this may include searching and confiscation guidance, when to call the
police guidance, online behaviour and how to manage ‘alleged perpetrators’ within
school)
5. Were there any issues that arose from your consultation with parents on the new RSE
policy and procedures?
6. Please outline what would help you to robustly develop a whole school approach to
tackling sexual violence and sexual harassment between children and young people?
The response was not overly high compared to the usual DSL response for information (30
responses from 26 schools). Some schools felt that they could not give accurate responses as
this was very much a work in progress and a priority for their safeguarding plans for the year.
Responses to survey-general overview
Issues for younger children tend to be facilitated through phones, messaging groups, gaming
platforms aimed at younger children or popular platforms e.g TikTok. As children progress
through primary, social media becomes a factor.
Primary children use derogatory language which they hear online or at home and bring into
school to ‘test’ out. Some schools also reported homophobic or racist incidents.
Sexualised name calling begins to emerge at Primary school level with one school reporting
they have had an incident of a pupil sending a semi-nude image.

Page 42

As pupils move to secondary age, issues are around sexual inappropriateness, online
harassment, inappropriate sexual name calling/sexualised language, unwanted touching,
sharing nude and semi-nudes sometimes with malicious intent.
Issue for older pupils happen during unstructured times of the day or out of school especially
online and on school transport. Some pupils have reported a reluctance to go for help, due to
being ‘branded a snitch’.
In terms of support, most schools outlined that they would benefit from support with training,
shared resources, support from external organisations, support with policies, involvement of
multi-agency partners, training and support on mental health, trauma and counselling.
Schools would like support on how to better work with parents. They also feel they would
benefit from a proven working model with evidence of success to ensure consistency,
mechanisms to develop staff confidence and have a common language around this issue to be
able to shift the culture in school.
Points raised in discussion groups at the Head Teacher briefing
The issue was also brought to the Head Teacher briefing in November and breakout rooms
were used to discuss. The head teachers were asked in response to Peer on Peer abuse, what
are the issues, what’s working well and what support is needed. The views of head teachers are
summarised below:
•

Issues raised regarding children-Mostly online issues:
Children discuss their experiences as seemingly thinking they are safe online but when
adults dig deeper, they are unaware of the wider risks. Anonymity causes many issues as do
‘pop ups’ with links to other sites. Issues with SEND children and EAL can mean additional
challenges. Children seem to be more comfortable reporting to school staff rather than
parents.
The pandemic has not helped as its difficult to teach PSHE through online lessons and
children have spent more time online. Schools feel online platform reporting systems and
safety regulations need reviewed.

•

Specific barriers
Parents need to be more on board as its difficult to get them to understand the issues and
the scale of the problem. They report that their children have more skill and knowledge that
they do. Parents appear to feel their children are safe as they are at home but they are often
shocked at their child’s online activity when an issue comes to light.
Support organisations and other safeguarding partners such as the police cannot always
offer proposed interventions due to capacity. Schools feel the government should recognise
this better at a national level and provide more support and funding.

3.4 Next steps
The findings locally as outlined above show that North Tyneside schools, teachers and pupils
are saying the same issues exist for them as those evident in the Ofsted review.
In order to address this complex issue, joint working between partners, schools and school
improvement should ensure the issue is seen as widespread therefore all should know how to
address it and a full system approach is implemented.

Page 43

Joint training should be offered for a consistent approach which should involve schools and LA
staff working together. A standardised assessment format should be used across the LA so
schools can share practice and multi-agency partners understand the process that has been
implemented in school before cases are escalated to a higher level of support.
This should be underpinned by a whole school approach including an effective curriculum, a
well embedded culture of online safety for all stakeholders and meaningful and well-understood
policies and procedures. This should be overseen, supported and endorsement by the North
Tyneside Safeguarding Children Partnership (NTSCP).
4. Background Information
The following documents have been used in the compilation of this report and may be inspected
at the offices of the author.
•

Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) and Health Education
Statutory guidance for governing bodies, proprietors, head teachers, principals, senior
leadership teams, teachers

•

Ofsted Review of Sexual Abuse in schools and colleges

Ofsted Review key findings
Key findings of this review include:
•

how prevalent peer on peer, sexual harassment and online sexual abuse are for children
and young people.

•

sexual harassment and online sexual abuse, such as being sent unsolicited explicit sexual
material and being pressured to send nude and semi nude pictures (‘nudes’), are much more
prevalent than adults realise.

•

sexual harassment occurs so frequently that it has become ‘commonplace’. For example,
92% of girls, and 74% of boys, said sexist name-calling happens a lot or sometimes to them
or their peers. The frequency of these harmful sexual behaviours means that some children
and young people consider them normal

•

when we asked children and young people where sexual violence occurred, they typically
talked about unsupervised spaces outside of school, such as parties or parks without adults
present, although some girls told us they also experienced unwanted touching in school
corridors.

•

children and young people, especially girls, do not want to talk about sexual abuse for
several reasons, even where their school encourages them to. For example, the risk of being
ostracised by peers or getting peers into trouble is not considered to be worth it for
something perceived by children and young people to be commonplace. They worry about
how adults will react, because they think they will not be believed, or that they will be
blamed. They also think that once they talk to an adult, the process will be out of their
control.

•

some teachers and leaders underestimated the scale of the problem. They either did not
identify sexual harassment and sexualised language as problematic or they were unaware
they were happening.

Page 44

•

professionals consistently underestimated the prevalence of online sexual abuse, even when
there was a proactive whole-school approach to tackling sexual harassment and violence.

•

some school and college leaders are unsure how to proceed when criminal investigations do
not lead to a prosecution or conviction.

•

schools and colleges cannot tackle sexual harassment and sexual violence, including online,
on their own, and neither should they. They need support from the government.

5. Appendices
•

Keeping children safe in education 2021 Statutory guidance for schools and colleges
September 2021

•

School Inspection Handbook. Updated September 2021

•

Sexual violence and sexual harassment between children in schools and colleges. Advice for
governing bodies, proprietors, headteachers, principals, senior leadership teams and
designated safeguarding leads September 2021

•

Sharing nudes and semi-nudes: advice for education settings working with children and young
people

Page 45

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Meeting:

Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee

Date:

13th January 2021

Title:

Signs of Safety Update

Author:

Julie Firth – Assistant Director

Service:

Safeguarding & Children’s
Services

Wards
affected:

1.

All

Purpose of Report
To update the Committee on the ongoing implementation of our model of practice –
Signs of Safety.
1.1.

Recommendation(s):

It is recommended that the Sub-committee:
a) Note the information provided.
b) Request further information if appropriate.
c) Make such recommendations as the Sub-committee consider appropriate.

2.

Introduction
North Tyneside Children’s Services adopted the Signs of Safety approach as their agreed
model of practice in 2017.
The Signs of Safety approach is a relationship-grounded, safety-organised approach to
child protection practice, created by researching what works for professionals and families
in building meaningful safety for vulnerable and at-risk children. The purpose of the
approach being:

Page
1 47

‘To enable professionals to undertake all child protection practice with a rigorous focus on
child safety by equipping agencies to establish their practice, policy, procedures and
organisation so that professionals can do everything humanly possible to put the parents,
children and everyone naturally connected to the children at the centre of the assessment,
decision-making and planning and give them every opportunity to come up with and apply
their ideas before the professionals offer or impose theirs.’
It is an internationally used model and is the model of practice in the majority of local
authorities across England and Wales.
The initial implementation of Signs of Safety in North Tyneside was a huge and successful
undertaking, delivering training and supporting practice not only for children’s services
practitioners but also across the wider, multi-agency partnership. Since that time the
implementation has continued at pace. The attached Practice Framework demonstrates
how Signs of Safety practice is at the core of our work with Children & Families.
This report gives an overview of the priorities and achievements over the last 12 months
in North Tyneside.

3.

Details: Signs of Safety Progress and Achievements
3.1 Governance
The oversight of our Signs of Safety Implementation is via a monthly Steering Group which
is chaired by the Senior Manager for Social Work Practice. Representatives from all the
service areas and workforce development attend the Steering Group. The Group agrees
the priorities for the year ahead, monitors progress against them, agrees the training
calendar and is also responsive to emerging practice needs and issues. In the last 12
months the priorities have focused on: 




Networks
Supervision
Early Help
Harm Risk Matrix in the Front Door

3.2 Progress on the agreed Priorities
3.2.1 Networks
Since 2020 we have had a strong focus on the use of networks in our practice. Having
a network of people who can help and support a family and in so doing build more
safety for the child / children is a real strengthen of the Signs of Safety approach. This
is challenging for both parents and practitioners as it requires a family to be open and
honest about what the worries are, what the safety goals are and what the bottom lines
are. Parents need to use the network not just to help and support but also to
demonstrate that the child / children will be and are safe.

Page
2 48

During the Covid-19 Pandemic the use of networks has been a key feature in building
safety for children when professional oversight was more limited. Practitioners in North
Tyneside were both creative and innovative about the use of networks and while there
is further work to do, practice with regards to networks, is now very well embedded.
As a consequence of this, North Tyneside Children’s Services were approached by the
DfE to do some further study and analysis around lessons learnt from working during
the pandemic, that could be shared and used across the sector. In partnership with
Professor Eileen Munro, Professor Andrew Turnell and Marie Devine, we worked with
three other local authorities to explore: What helps and hinders practitioners build safety through naturally connected
networks during a pandemic when professional contact is limited?
The study was small in size and consequently the findings are tentative but do support
the hypothesis that the use of networks makes a worthwhile contribution to improving
children’s safety and wellbeing.
Following on from the study, some practitioners were asked to present on practice
around networks at two separate conferences. They received excellent feedback and
also wonderful acknowledgments for their practice. We also formed part of a panel on
‘belonging’ at the recent International Signs of Safety Gathering.
3.2.2 Supervision
Supervision is a key task in any social work system. The focus over the last twelve
months has been further embedding of the Signs of Safety approach to group
supervision. The process involves a worker who brings a child’s case to discuss and is
designed for a worker to get direction when they are experiencing challenges or
barriers. Both managers and practitioners have feedback positively on the use of group
supervision and the benefits and impact it has for moving forward positively.
We have delivered training around group supervision and have also had our Practice
Development Team deliver and observe group supervision sessions to all the teams.
3.2.3 Early Help
Our Early Help teams also use the Signs of safety approach and over the last twelve
months have also completed work on safety planning and the use of networks. There
has been a focus on how practice is supported by the electronic case recording system
EHM and how we take forward changes that would better support our practice. Having
completed this improvement work we are now involved in leading a group across Early
Help Services in other local authorities who also wish to implement these changes.

Page
3 49

3.2.4 Harm Risk Matrix – Front Door
The Harm Risk Matrix helps us to gather specific, detailed information about the harm
when assessing child abuse and neglect. It clearly identifies the harmful behaviour, its
severity, frequency and impact on the child. It is designed to help professionals gather
detailed information from referrers.
In March 2021, the Front Door, MASH team took part in a 3-day practice intensive led
by Penny Turnell, Executive Director Elia. The 3-day workshop looked at how to
effectively use the tool as part of the MASH process as well as helping us with
implementation of the tool.
3.3 Workforce Development
The Steering Group also oversees the planning and delivery of training in Signs of Safety.
In the last 12 months we have adapted the training to online delivery and delivered both 6day intensive workshops and 3-day introductory training.
Alongside this we hold Practice Leader events every six to eight weeks. Every service, and
in many instances, every team has an identified Practice Leader. Their role is one of
dissemination of practice and to provide advice and guidance around the model. In the
last 12 months the sessions have looked at themes including Exploitation, Non-Accidental
injury, Networks, Safety Planning and working with children with complex needs. This work
is then followed up within the teams to provide practical support for application of the
learning.
Given some of the demand pressures on the teams during the pandemic we have also
delivered ‘bite size’ sessions. These are short sessions that focus on a different area of
the model each day for a two-week period. In total we have delivered four weeks of ‘bite
size’ training.
4.

Priorities for the next 12 months
Over the next 12 months the following priorities have been agreed: 





5.

Systems work around embedding the new Children in Care forms that better
support practice.
Ongoing focus on group supervision
Safety Planning
Language
Timeline and Trajectories – enables planning and progress to stay on track

Appendices
5.1 Promise Pledges
5.2 Children’s Documents x 2

Page
4 50

Passion

Purpose

Pledges

Principles

Practice Standards

Our Passion
Making North Tyneside an even greater place for children and young people to thrive;
where all, including those who are vulnerable, disadvantaged or disabled have the best possible life

Page 51

Our Purpose

Safe

|

Healthy

|

Opportunities

|

A voice

|

Our Pledges

Our Principles

Our Practice Standards

1.

•
•
•
•

•

2.
3.

We will intervene early with evidence based,
family focussed services
We will work in partnership to keep children
in school
We will keep children and young safe at
home, healthy and connected to their local
communities

•

We will work to give the right help at the right time
We will work only for as long as is necessary
We will work openly, honestly and respectfully
We will work to build strong relationships with all
those we work with
We will work with the whole family and network
to bring about change

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Happy

Children will be listened to and we will act on
what they tell us
Children will have people important to them
involved in helping to keep and make them safe
Children will have their safety clearly understood
Children will have a Safety Plan which tells those
who need to know how to keep them safe
Children will only have help for as long as they
need it (so they can get on with their own lives)
Children will be able to understand all the things
written about them
Children will have help which follows the rules
Children have help from Workers who get the
advice and support they need to do a good job

This page is intentionally left blank

One to One Direct Work with Fred and Billy

Page 53

What are we Worried About
Billy

What is Working Well
Billy

What needs to Happen
Billy

Lots of children I work with have worries, they
can make us feel sad, a little bit worried or
scared, angry or a bit bad, do you have any
worries Billy that you would like to talk to me
about? “I don’t want to”.

What are the favourite things you do with mam
and dad? “seeing Nanna ne nar and Nanna
Holiday – I am missing my nanna’s.

Billy to spend time with his nannas’ this to be
explored further and with agreement from
everyone working with Billy.

What is good about seeing mam and dad, “
playing with my mam and playing games with my
dad”.

Revisit words and pictures with Fred and Billy.

Billy said that he did not want to talk about his
worries

What are some of the things you like about
school? “playing with my friends, Lawson,
Raymond and Tyler”.
What things make you happy and feel good,
“music – dance Monkey”.
What are the good things about living with foster
carers, “going out and seeing Isobel”.

7/12/2021

The important people in my life are mam, dad
and Josh.
I miss Josh I have never seen him.
Fred

Continue building on the three houses with Fred
and Billy.

Fred
Lots of children I work with have worries, they
can make us feel sad, a little bit worried or
scared, angry or a bit bad, do you have any
worries Billy that you would like to talk to me
about?

What are the favourite things you do with mam
and dad? “going to the beach, playing in the sea,
making sandcastles and looking for fish”.
What are some of the things you like about
school? “I like doing work, maths and phonics, I
love to play with Billy and going to school and
playing with my friends”.

“I am worried about the dark, this makes me feel
scared”
What things make you happy and feel good, “I
miss my mam and dad”.
What are the good things about living with Foster
Carers , “I love my foster carers ”.

Page 54

What is good about seeing mam and dad, “ Me
helping mam and dad to wash the dishes”.

7/12/2021
If I go home and Sally gets hurt again, I will go to
different foster carers, not Julie and Colin.

To go back to mam and dad, that’s my wishes
and it only my big wish ever.

Fred house of Good things
Me at the beach playing in
the sea, making
sandcastles, and finding
fish.

Me and Billy playing

Me at school

Page 55
My mam and dad

Foster Carers
Me washing
dishes with my
dad

Fred– House of worries

Page 56

I am scared of the dark.

Me not able to go to
Foster Carers

Page 57

House of Dreams

Me going back to
my mam and dad

Page 58

Billy – House of Good Things

Nanna Ne Nar
Playing on the

Page 59

Playing on the
computer with
my mam

Playing board
games with
my dad

Music

Billy Important People

Josh

Mam

Page 60

Dad

Page 61

Page 62

